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No egency records subsect to the reaveet have been located.

No addrional agency recorde subpect to es roovest how been located

Agency records subtect to the request that are usectif ed e Apperes k
1117 H Street. N W., Weehegm. DC . are enroady swadaNo for pubhC irspecton and Copymg m the NRC P@lic Document Room,
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and coymg at the NRC Pu%c Doewment Room,1717 H Street, N W . Washington, DC. m a fokser under the Fol A number and requester name.

- Enclosed a mformaten on how yow mov obta.n access to and the chyges for copyng records placed m the NRC Pub!< Document Room.1717 M Street. N.W., WW-y.w,, DC.
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Re: FOIA. 87-847

APPENDIX A

RECORDS MAINTAINED AMONG PDR FILES

NUMBER DATE DESCRIPTION

1. 6/11/84 letter from T. A. Ippolito to P.B. Bloch, 18
Or. W.H. Jordan, & Dr. X.A. McCollom
transmitting NRC's Comanche Peak Plan
for the Completion of Outstanding
Regulatory Actions of May 19, 1984.
ANO 8406210280

2. 4/18/83 BN 83-29B ANO 8304220297 97

3. 5/4/83 BN 83-29 ANO 8305160240 10

4. 3/2/83 BN 83-29A ANO 8304110007 43 '

5. 4/11/83 Letter from R.C. DeYoung (IE) to R.J. 93
Gary (TV Electric) forwarding Inspection
Report 8318/8312 ANO 8305120145

6. 5/31/83 Letter from G.L. Madsen (NRR) to 5 iR.J. Gary (TV Electric) transmitting NOV '

for CAT inspection. ANO 8306210105

7 6/28/83 TXX-3996 from R.J. Gary (TV Electric to 10
G.L. Madsen (NRR) ANO 8307150311

8 7/11/83 Ltr from G.L. Madsen (NRR) to R.J. Gary 10
(TVElectric) ANO 8307150304

E. 4/19/85 QXX-2350 from J.R. Wells (TV Electric) I
to R.D. Martin (RIV) re a CAT inspection
finding. ACN 8510080478.

10 . 4/19/85 Ltr from R.P. Denise (RIV) to W.G. Counsil 3
(TU Electric) ackno. sledging itse 1-9.
ACN 8510080474. ~

11. 10/3/85 Ltr from R.P. Denise (RIV) to W.G. Counsil 1

(TV Electric) re undated Itr related to '

Inspection Report 8318/8312. ACN 8510080197.

12. 03/02/83 Memorandum J. Taylor to 0. Eisenhut regarding 1
infonnation from Construction Appraisal Team
(CAT) Inspection of Comanche Peak ANO 8303110533
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Re: F01A. 87-847

APPEN0lx B

RECORDS MAINTAINEO IN THE POR UNDER THE ABOVE REQUEST NUMBER '
NUMBER DATE DESCRIPTION PAGES

.

1. 6/6/83 Memorandum J. E. cagliardo, RIV, to Darrell
H. Eisenhut. subject: Request For NRR Position
On Applicability Of IEEE Standard 450 During
Construction
(1 page)

2. 11/13/85 Memorandum, William H. Foster, RIV, to Robert
D. Martin, RIV, subjec t : region IV Operating
Plan - Fiscal Year 1985 (None produced prior
to 1985) Operating Plan attached
(46 pages)

,

I
,

3. 1986 Region IV FY 198o Operating Plan Direct inspection
Effort, 10/1/85 through 9/27/86
(46 pages)

4, 1987 Region IV FY 1987 Operating Plan, Direct inspection
Effort, 10/1/86 through 9/26/87
(46 pages),

5, 10/23/84 Annotated NRC memo for D.G. Eisenhut 30
from V.S. Noonan, "Comanche Peak Action
Items"

6. -1/31/85 RIV Action Necessary for Completion Prior
1

to Fuel Load (1985) for CPSES

7. 2/13/85 Memo for F. Miraglia (NRR) from R.P. Denise 30 i(RIV) Report on Status of CPSES Completion :-

(1/85).
;

8. 4/10/85 Annotated draf t memo for R.H. Wessman (RIV) 3
from D. M. Hunnicutt (R!Y), inspection
actions required to meet the adequate
completion of plant construction and '

readiness of the applicant for CPSES Unit |

1 OL.

9. Undated Annotated Draf t of enclosure to item 1-3 14 !Summary report for regional evaluation of !

CPSES Unit 1 as of 1/31/85.
.
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_

RECORDS MAINTAINEO IN THE PDR UNDER THE ABOVE REQUEST NUMBER
NUM8ER DATE DESCRIPTION PAGES

10. Undated Annotated draf t of a March 27, 1984 suma ry 18
report for regional evaluation of CPSES
Unit 1.

11. Undated Annotated draf t NTOL input 16

I2- Undated Draf t of a 4/16/85 sumary report for regional 14
evaluation of CPSES Unit 1.

13. 6/30/85 Sumary Report for Regional Evaluation 20
of CPSES Unit 1.

14. 7/28/86 Fascimile from H.S. Phillips (RIV) to 33
G. Mulley (0!A) comenting on R!y inspection
performance, assessments of RIV inspection
and Rly SALP evaluation cf TUGCO.

,

15. Undated Handwritten inspector notes of violations 25
deviations, and unresolved items by
inspectionreport(1973-1984),10CFR50.55(e)
deficiency trends Unit 1/2 inspection finding
history from RIV reports, frequency of,

'

unresolved items.
4

16, 4/18/83 Handwritten note from NRC PM (Bunvell) on 1
- distribution of BN 83-298.

|

17. S/26/83 Texas Utilities Services, Inc. office memo 1 !
from R.C. Barber to R. Kissinger on the i4

subject of NCR-M-82-1589 weld cracks. -

;

;

18. 4/16/87 Facsimile from H.S. Phillips (OSP) to 8
i P. McKee (OSP) responding to item 2-3.

19- 4/6/87 Memo for multiple addressess from G.I. 2
Grimes (OSP) re staff reports about
Cor.anche Peak QA/QC.

!
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APPENDIX B
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1. 6/6/83 Memorandum, J. E. Gagliardo, RIV, to Darrell
H. Eisenhut, subject: Request for NRR Position
On Applicability Of IEEE Standard 450 During
Construction
(1 page)

2. 11/13/85 Memorandum, William H. Foster, RIV, to Robert
D. Martin, RIV, subject: region IV Operating
Plan - Fiscal Year 1985 (None produced prior
to 198$) Operating Plan attached
(46 pages)

3. 1986 Region IV FY 1986 Operating Plan, Direct Inspection
Effort, 10/1/85 through 9/27/86
(46 pages)

4. 1987 Region IV FY 1987 Operating Plan, Direct Inspection
Effort, 10/1/86 through 9/26/87
(46 pages) {,

5. 10/23/84 Annotated NRC memo for 0 G. Eisenhut 30
from V.S. Noonan, "Comanche Peak Action
items"

6. d /31/85 RlY Action Necessary for Completion Prior *

to Fuel Load (1985) for CPSES

7. 2/13/85 Memo for F. Miraglia (NRR) from R.P. Denise 30
(RIV) Report on Status of CPSES Completion -

(1/85).

8. 4/10/85 Annotated draft memo for R.H. Wessman (RIV) 3
from D. M. Hunnicutt (RIV), inspection
actions required to meet the adequate
completion of plant construction and
readiness of the applicant for CPSES Unit

:1 OL.

9. Undated Annotated Draft of enclosure to item 1-3 14
Sunrnary report for regional evaluation of
CPSES Unit I as of 1/31/85.
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10. Undated Annotated draf t of a March 27, 1984 suma ry 18report for regional evaluation of CPSES
Unit 1.

11. Undated Annotated draf t NT0L input
16

12.
Undated Oraf t of a 4/16/85 sumary report for regional 14

evaluation of CPSES Unit 1.
13. 6/30/85 Sumary Report for Regional Evaluation 20of CPSES Unit 1.

14. 7/28/86 Fascimile from H.S. Phillips (RIV) to 33
G. Mulley (0!A) coerenting on RIV inspection
performance, assessments of RIV inspection
and Rly SALP evaluation of TUGCO.

1

15. Undated Handwritten inspector notes of violations 25

'

deviations, and unresolved items by
inspection report (1973-1984), 10CFR50.55(e)
deficiency trends, Unit 1/2 inspection finding (
history from RIV reports, frequency of, ,

'

unresolved items.

T

16. 4/18/83 Handwritten note from NRC PM (Burwell) on 1
distribution of BN 83-298.<-

17. 5/26/83 Texas Utilities Services, Inc. office memo
1

from R.C. Barber to R. Kissinger on the
subject of NCR-M-82-1589 weld cracks. -

18. 4/16/87 Facsimile from H.S. Phillips (OSP) to 8P. McKee (OSP) responding to item 2-3.

19. 4/6/87 Memo for multiple addressess from G.I. 2
Grimes (OSP) re staff reports about
Comanche Peak QA/QC.
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